SUPREME COURT COPY

SUPREME COURT FILED

No. S249895

SEP 2 4 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

ABBOTT LABORATORIES; ABBVIE INC.; TEVA PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRIES, LTD.; TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA, INC.; BARR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.; DURAMED PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.; DURAMED PHARMACEUTICALS SALES CORP



Petitioners,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOR THE COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Respondent.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.

Real Parties in Interest.

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division 1, No. D072577

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. In a complaint filed by a district attorney alleging statewide violations under California's Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), is the trial court's power to order monetary penalties and restitution limited to protect consumers in only one county, such that the trial court may only order monetary sanctions for the violations occurring in that single county, or does the trial court have the power to order the full range of remedies specified in the UCL to protect all consumers in the state upon a properly filed law enforcement complaint?
- 2. Must a district attorney, who is expressly authorized to file cases on behalf of the People of the State of California in UCL actions, obtain "written consent by the Attorney General and other county district attorneys" before filing a UCL complaint that alleges statewide misconduct, to enable the court to grant the full remedies available under the UCL to protect California consumers?
- 3. In providing a judicial opinion on the above questions that were not yet reached by the trial court or the state Legislature, did the Fourth District exceed its jurisdiction and legally err in mandating the Respondent Court to grant a motion to strike true factual references to the State of California from the District Attorney's complaint in this case?

II. INTRODUCTION

District attorneys are expressly authorized to file UCL actions "on behalf of the People of the State of California" for "any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice." (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, 17204 & 17206, subd. (a).) "[A]ny court of competent jurisdiction" is, in turn, expressly authorized to: (1) enjoin such behavior; (2) enter orders for restitution to restore "any money or property" to "any person" harmed by the bad acts; and (3) to impose civil penalties "for each violation" so as to punish and deter "any person who engages" in unlawful and unfair competition in this state. (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, 17203, 17204 & 17206, subd. (a).) Under this simple framework, district attorneys have been bringing UCL law enforcement actions in courts throughout the state to protect California consumers for decades.

The present case is no exception. However, according to the Fourth District Court of Appeal's unprecedented holding below, courts may no longer order the full range of monetary remedies authorized in the UCL to protect the public if the case is filed by a district attorney without the prior "written consent" of the Attorney General and other state prosecutors. In support of its holding, the Fourth District reasoned that district attorneys are county officers who are constitutionally limited to pursuing monetary remedies solely for violations impacting their constituents within their county's borders. The Fourth District's Opinion is clearly erroneous.

Indeed, the purported geographic limitations on the UCL's remedies are not found anywhere in the UCL, the State Constitution or elsewhere. To the contrary, the UCL expressly grants the Attorney General, district attorneys and certain city attorneys standing to file public law enforcement actions for unfair competition -- without geographic restriction. The UCL also expressly grants the judiciary the power to order all authorized statutory remedies as necessary to protect "any person" and to penalize "each violation" of law upon a properly filed complaint -- without geographic restriction. The nature of the remedy awarded is expressly intended to be punitive in nature, driven by the defendants' misconduct and the facts of the case, not the particular prosecutor that files the enforcement action.

To hold otherwise is plainly contrary to the intent of the UCL to protect consumers statewide in an efficient, streamlined fashion, using the state's full network of public prosecutors and courts in the process. It makes no sense to shield defendants from any part of the expressly authorized remedies in the UCL upon a properly filed complaint, merely because it is brought by a district attorney rather than the Attorney General. A court in any "competent jurisdiction" is equally capable to enter an appropriate order to protect consumers, regardless of the prosecutor that files the case. (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17206, subd. (a).)

For each of these reasons, and those described in more detail below, the Fourth District's Opinion and mandate should be reversed.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a government law enforcement action for unlawful and unfair competition under California Business and Professions Code Section 17200 *et seq.* (also known as the "UCL") filed by the District Attorney of the County of Orange on behalf of the People of the State of California.¹ The People allege that Defendants engaged in anticompetitive, unfair and unlawful business practices by intentionally delaying the sale of a generic version of a popular pharmaceutical drug to maximize their profits. (*See* Petitioner's Appendix, Ex. 7, at A.075-A.111 [attaching the operative complaint].)² The purpose of this action is to protect consumers and punish the corporate wrongdoers for their unlawful, unfair and fraudulent business practices as an exercise of the District Attorney's police powers. (FAC ¶¶ 1 & 4.)

A. The Complaint Adequately Alleges Standing, Jurisdiction, And Venue For This Action To Proceed In Orange County

The Complaint alleges "Plaintiff's Authority" for bringing the present action "pursuant to section 17200 of the California Business and Professions

Real Party in Interest, the People of the State of California, is herein referred to as the "People" or the "Plaintiff."

The complaint was filed on October 4, 2016. (A.11-A.43.) The People filed their First Amended Complaint for Violations of California Unfair Competition Law, Seeking Restitution, Civil Penalties and Injunctive Relief (hereinafter the "Complaint" or the "FAC") on December 27, 2016. (A.75-A.111.) All further citations to "A" herein are to the page numbers in the Petitioner's Appendix.

Code." (FAC ¶ 4.) There is no dispute that district attorneys have standing to pursue such claims "in the name of the people of the State of California." (See Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17204 & 17206 [expressly authorizing "any district attorney" to file civil actions under the UCL in the "name of the People of the State of California"].) The Complaint further alleges a proper basis for jurisdiction over the Petitioners in Orange County, and adequately pleads that Orange County is a proper venue for this case to be heard. (See FAC ¶ 17-18.)

B. The FAC Alleges One Count Of Unlawful And Unfair Business Practices Under The UCL

The Complaint alleges that "the brand name manufacturers of Niaspan entered into agreements with generic drug manufacturers" whereby the generic drug manufacturers were paid to delay bringing "generic versions of Niaspan to market in the United States." (FAC ¶ 2.) Through this conspiracy, the Complaint alleges Petitioners: (a) illegally maintained monopoly power in the market for Niaspan in the United States from 2005 through March 2014; (b) illegally maintained the price of Niaspan at supracompetitive levels; and (c) caused consumers, their insurers, public healthcare providers, and other government payors to overpay millions of dollars by depriving them of access to less expensive generic versions of Niaspan. Petitioners spared no geographic market in their wrongdoing. Their unlawful monopoly thus affected the "geographic market" of the entire

United States and its territories," including the State of California, and the County of Orange. (FAC ¶ 144.)

Based on the foregoing, the Complaint alleges one Count of Unfair Competition under Section 17200 against Petitioners for their unfair, anti-competitive, and unlawfully monopolistic, business practices. (FAC ¶¶ 162-169.) The corporate conspiracy is alleged to be unlawful under several federal, state, statutory and/or common laws. (FAC ¶ 164.) The conduct is further alleged to be "unfair" under the UCL because it is offensive to "public policy," "substantially injurious to consumers," and such conduct stands to "significantly threaten and harm competition." (FAC ¶ 165.)

C. Just As In Any Other Complaint, The FAC Properly Prays For The Maximum Relief Authorized By Law

Plaintiff's "Prayer for Relief" seeks declaratory relief, injunctive relief, restitution and civil penalties, as well as costs, fees and any further relief the court deems proper. (A.110.) The prayer is alleged in a fashion to seek the maximum relief expressly authorized by law. (A.110; FAC, at p.35.) There is nothing defective in the manner of pleading the District Attorney's UCL case.

D. Defendants Filed A Motion To Strike True Factual References To"California" In the Complaint

In addition to filing a demurrer, in response to the Complaint,

Defendants filed a Motion to Strike (the "Motion") virtually all factual

references to the State of California from the Complaint. (See A.116-126 [seeking to strike the word "California" and phrases containing the word California, such as "in California," "within California," "California users," "such as California purchasers," "across and within California," etc.].) Defendants did not contend that any such allegations were false, but rather, argued that all factual references to California should be stricken on the grounds that "district attorneys and other local prosecutors have no jurisdiction to enforce and thus, can make no claims under the Unfair Competition Law outside the geographic boundaries of their local jurisdictions." (A.119.) Plaintiff opposed the Motion, citing the applicable statutory language in the UCL that grants the district attorneys standing and jurisdiction to seek the relief precisely as prayed for in the Complaint. (A.185-201.)

E. Respondent Court Denied The Motion To Strike, Reserving Judgment On The Amount Of Penalties For Another Day

At the hearing on the pleading motions, the Respondent Court found no legal authority supporting Defendants' Motion, and held that a ruling regarding the scope of penalties at the pleading stage was "premature." (A.239-246; *see also* A.229-230, A.232 & A.244.) Nevertheless, Defendants argued that the court should consider:

an issue like the scope of the remedy that this plaintiff can obtain, in advance, on a motion to strike. Because it will focus the case. It will focus discovery, it will ensure that ... these parties can negotiate with

this plaintiff to resolve the proceeding, to understand the scope of any potential settlement that this plaintiff could enter into.

(A.243; see also A.246 [arguing "it makes sense to have the complaint reflect the recovery that this plaintiff can seek, which is why we have moved to strike"].) Respondent Court rejected the request to prematurely rule on the scope of relief in the case, and denied the Motion.

In support of this ruling, the trial court explained: "We all agree that the court can issue an injunction that applies throughout the state ... So the question really becomes, like everything else in the courthouse, money, right? So how much money are we talking about and where is the money going?" (A.244-246 & A.252.) "But that's kind of aways down the road." (A.244.) Defendants were given 30 days to answer the Complaint.

F. The Petition For Writ Of Mandate

The matter was presented to the Fourth District Court of Appeal on an extraordinary petition for writ of mandate following the denial of Defendants' Motion to Strike. Petitioners argued, once again, that their Motion should have been granted because the Orange County District Attorney ("OCDA") does not have "authority" to seek relief for California consumers outside the "geographic boundaries" of Orange County. (A.116-126.) Without reference to any of the particular allegations subject to the Motion, the Petitioners submitted the following legal question for review: "Does Business & Professions Code section 17204 ("§ 17204") permit a

county district attorney to bring a claim that seeks relief for alleged injuries to residents of California counties whom he or she does not represent, based on conduct occurring outside the county he or she serves." (Petition, at p.8.) The Fourth District entered an order to show cause on September 18, 2017, and invited formal briefing from the parties on the Petition at that time.

In Return to the Petition, the People demurred, arguing, among other things, that the legal question presented was premature and not ripe for review because "the trial court never ruled" on the scope of remedies to be awarded in the case. (Return at pp.12-14.) The People argued that the "only potentially justiciable issue presented" at this stage of the case was whether the Respondent Court abused her discretion in denying the Motion to Strike, and under well settled law, the People argued she did not. (Return at pp.26-51.) On the merits of Petitioners' legal question about the scope of permissible remedies, the People argued that there is no "geographical limitation" in the UCL on the remedies that a court of "competent jurisdiction" can award in a properly filed UCL case, and any suggestion to the contrary was not supported by the express language and intent of the UCL, or any other authority. (Return at pp.26-51.)

G. The Fourth District Granted The Petition And Mandated That The Motion To Strike Be Granted In A 2-1 Decision

On May 31, 2018, after full briefing and a hearing on the Petition, in a 2-1 decision, the Fourth District overruled the People's

demurrer to the writ, granted the writ and ordered Respondent Court "to vacate its order denying the motion to strike ... and to enter a new and different order striking the allegations" subject to Defendants' Motion. (Opinion at p.39 [Majority Opinion by J. O'Rourke; Concurring, J. Huffman].) Although they did not analyze the Motion to Strike in any detail, in support of this ruling, the Majority answered the question presented as follows:

Though section 17204 confers standing on district attorneys to sue in the name of the people of the State of California, it cannot constitutionally or reasonably be interpreted to grant the District Attorney power to seek and recover restitution and civil penalty relief for violations occurring outside the jurisdiction of the county in which he was elected. A contrary conclusion would permit the District Attorney to ursurp the Attorney General's statewide authority and impermissibly bind his sister district attorneys, precluding them from pursuing their own relief. Thus, in the absence of written consent by the Attorney General and other county district attorneys, the District Attorney must confine such monetary recovery to violations occurring within the county he serves.

(Opinion at pp.4-5.)

The Majority concluded their Opinion by stating that the "foregoing conclusions are not broad policy pronouncements," but rather, a necessary "constitutional and statutory" interpretation of the UCL "to avoid doubts concerning the UCL's validity." (Opinion at p.38.)

H. Justice Dato's Dissenting Opinion Reached A Different Result Entirely

The dissenting opinion, by Justice Dato, could not possibly disagree more. According to the dissent, the Majority Opinion "violates" the general guidelines for intermediate appellate courts to "avoid broad legal policy pronouncements, leaving that to the Supreme Court and the Legislature." (Dis. Opn. at p.1.) "The majority then compound these judgmental errors by deciding the ill-considered legal issue incorrectly in a manner that will materially impair the interests of California consumers by fundamentally altering the structure of consumer protection laws in this state." (Dis. Opn. at p.1.)

The dissent pointed out an "immediate problem with the use of the motion-to-strike mechanism" for addressing the legal issue presented here. According to the dissent, "what the District Attorney requests in terms of civil penalties and restitution is largely irrelevant, for it is the *court* that ultimately decides the proper scope of monetary relief" in UCL cases. (Dis. Opn. at p.3 [emphasis in original].)

In response to the reasoning of the Majority, Justice Dato noted that "the majority rely on a phantom constitutional concern to craft a cure that is worse than even the perceived disease." (Dis. Opn., at p.7; see Maj. Opn. at p.38 [finding its holding necessary to avoid

incentivizing district attorneys to "race [their colleagues] to the courthouse" in order to "obtain all of the civil penalties"].) "Consistent with the UCL's broad remedial purposes and the perceived need for vigorous enforcement, there is nothing unconstitutional about the Legislature's decision to permit and encourage multiple public prosecutors with overlapping lines of authority on the theory that more enforcement in this context is better than less." (Dis. Opn. at p.7.)

Justice Dato indicated that he "would deny the petition," concluding:

Well-tested principles underlie the traditional reticence of intermediate appellate courts to engage in interlocutory writ review of trial court procedural rulings such as the one at issue in this case. (See Omaha Indemnity Co. v. Superior Court (1989) 209 Cal.App.3d 1266, 1273.) Rarely do those principles so uniformly counsel against issuance of writ relief as they do here. In choosing to ignore these sound prudential considerations, the majority reach out to unnecessarily resolve – incorrectly in my view – an internecine dispute among public prosecutors, to the ultimate detriment of the "public" we are all charged with serving.

(Dis. Opn. at p.13.)

I. The People's Petition For Rehearing Was Denied

The People filed a timely petition for rehearing in the Fourth District. On June 27, 2018, the Fourth District denied the Petition. At the same time, the Fourth District entered an order modifying its

Opinion in minor respects unrelated to the challenged portions of the Opinion, without making a change in judgment. The Opinion, as modified on June 27, 2018 was certified for publication.³

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The meaning and interpretation of the UCL presents a question of law subject to de novo review. (In re Tobacco II Cases (2009) 46 Cal.4th 298, 311.) The rules of statutory construction are "well settled." (Kirby v. Immoos Fire Protection, Inc. (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1244, 1250.) The Court "must look first to the words of the statute, 'because they generally provide the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (Id.) "If the statutory language is clear and unambiguous," the plain, commonsense meaning of the language controls, and the Court is instructed to "presume that the Legislature meant what it said." (Id.) "Only when the statute's language is ambiguous or susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, may the court turn to extrinsic aids to assist in interpretation." (Id.)

When reviewing the statutory language to effectuate the Legislative intent:

The Fourth District's May 31, 2018 Opinion (the "Opinion") is attached to the Fourth District's June 27, 2018 order Denying Rehearing, Denying Motion for Judicial Notice and Modifying Opinion with No Change in Judgment.

A statute's literal meaning must be aligned with its purpose. Its meaning may not be determined from a single word or sentence. Instead, the words must be construed in context, and provisions relating to the same subject matter or that are part of the same statutory scheme must be read together and harmonized to the extent possible.

We must select a construction that: best fits the Legislature's apparent intent; promotes instead of defeats the statute's general purpose; and avoids absurd or unintended consequences. The statute cannot be construed in a way that would make its provisions void or ineffective, especially if that would frustrate the underlying legislative purpose.

(Harbor Regional Center v. Office of Administrative Hearings (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 293, 310-11; see also Kleffman v. Vonage Holdings Corp. (2010) 49 Cal.4th 334, 340 ["As in any case involving statutory interpretation, our fundamental task . . . is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose"].)

B. History Of District Attorney Prosecutions Under The UCL

"The district attorney is the public prosecutor, except as otherwise provided by law." (Cal. Gov't Code § 26500.) As the "public prosecutor," it is the job of the district attorney to "initiate and conduct on behalf of the people all prosecutions for public offenses." (*Id.*) In addition to filing criminal actions, district attorneys are authorized to bring civil actions to

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