Case No. S249895

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ABBOTT LABORATORIES; ABBVIE INC.; TEVA PHARMACEUTICALS USA,

INC.; BARR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.; DURAMED PHARMACEUTICALS COURT FILED

INC.: AND DURAMED PHARMACEUTICAL SALES CORP.,

Petitioners,

NOV 26 2018

vs.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Respondent,

Deputy

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA EX REL. ORANGE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY TONY RACKAUCKAS,

Real Party in Interest.



After a Decision by the Court of Appeal for the Fourth District, Division One Case No. D072577

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

as local officials enforcing laws within their particular jurisdiction and the rule of narrow construction, statutory silence on the issue cannot equate to Legislative consent.

2.

The Unfair Competition Law's Authorizing District Attorneys to Bring Claims on Behalf of "The People of the State of California" Does Not Vest District Attorneys with Statewide Enforcement Authority.

The Opening Brief argues that the UCL conveys statewide enforcement authority on district and city attorneys because it permits them to bring claims on behalf of "the People of the State of California." (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17204, 17206; see also Gov. Code, § 100, subd. (b) ["The style of all process shall be "The People of the State of California," and all prosecutions shall be conducted in their name and by their authority."].) The District Attorney argues that, in so doing, he "represents the State, not the county." (Opening Br. at p. 33, quoting *People v. Garcia* (2006) 29 Cal.4th 1070, 1080-81.) But the manner in which a district attorney is authorized to style litigation does not mean that he has the authority to bring civil litigation for violations anywhere and throughout California.

It has long been settled law that in prosecuting crimes, a district attorney "acts by the authority and in the name of the people of the state." (*Pitts, supra,* 17 Cal.4th at p. 359, quoting *County of Modoc v. Spencer* (1894) 103 Cal. 498, 501.) The district attorney "represents the sovereign power of the people of the state, by whose authority and in whose name all prosecutions must be conducted." (*Shepherd v. Superior Court* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 107, 122, quoting

Fleming v. Hance (1908) 153 Cal. 162, 167.) And when the Legislature permitted the Attorney General, district attorneys, and certain city attorneys to *civilly* enforce the UCL by authority and in the name of "the People of the State of California," it authorized bringing that sovereignty to bear. But the source of the district attorney's power does not dictate the scope of that power.

"The state may, through its Legislature, and in the exercise of its sovereign power ... apportion and delegate to the counties any of the functions which belong to it." (Sacramento County v. Chambers (1917) 33 Cal.App. 142, 149.) But a delegation of some sovereign power to be exercised by a local public servant does not—as the District Attorney seems to assume—automatically convey an unlimited license to exercise that power anywhere and everywhere throughout the State. That assumption is not only unsupported, it bucks decades of precedent acknowledging that district attorneys may prosecute actions on behalf of "the People" only for offenses within their counties. See supra, Section I.A.

It also runs contrary to the only other published appellate decision to specifically address the geographic limits on a district attorney's authority to enforce and obtain remedies under the UCL, the Court of Appeal's 1978 decision in *People v. Hy-Lond Enterprises*. *Inc.* In *Hy-Lond*, the Napa County District Attorney entered into a statewide settlement of UCL claims against a chain of 18 hospitals in 12 different counties, including Napa. (*Hy-Lond*, *supra*, 93 Cal.App.3d at p. 740.) The settlement resolved all claims statewide for \$40,000 in penalties and various injunctive relief, in

return for "absolution for all its past sins, whether fancied or actual, in all 12 counties in which it owned facilities." (*Id.* at pp. 741-42 & fn. 2, 749 & fn. 7.)

After judgment was entered, the Attorney General—acting in the interests of the State Department of Health Services—moved to intervene and vacate the settlement under Code of Civil Procedure section 663. (Hy-Lond, supra, 93 Cal.App.3d at p. 742.) The Attorney General argued that the "district attorney had exceeded his authority in stipulating away certain rights and duties reserved to the office of Attorney General and to the Department respectively." (Id. at p. 745.) Because "there still was an alleged lack of authority [by the district attorney] to effect the settlement on the terms embodied in the judgment" (id. at p. 747), the Attorney General asked the superior court to vacate the judgment in its entirety, or at least to amend the judgment "to the extent that it purports to bind governmental officials and agencies who were not parties to the action." (Id. at p. 743.) The trial court denied the motion and the Attorney General appealed.

The Court of Appeal explained that it was "called upon to determine the authority conferred on the district attorney by ... § 17204[.]" (*Id.* at p. 752.¹⁵) The Court first dispensed with the argument the District Attorney makes here: that in bringing a claim on behalf of the "People of the State of California," a district attorney has authority to act statewide. (*Hy-Lond*, *supra*, 93 Cal.App.3d

¹⁵ *Hy-Lond* also addressed a nearly identical provision in section 17535, which is not at issue here and has no bearing on the analysis. (*See Hy-Lond*, *supra*, 93 Cal.App.3d at p. 747.)

at p. 751.) Government Code section 100 requires all process to be styled in that matter. But that styling did not delimit "who is authorized to represent 'The People of the State of California' in any particular action, or the limits to which such authority extends." (*Ibid.*)¹⁶

Instead, as here, the question turned on the district attorney's statutory authority—specifically, whether section 17204 authorized the district attorney to bring and compromise a statewide action, which would have the effect of binding the Attorney General, other state agencies, and other district attorneys. (*Hy-Lond*, *supra*, 93 Cal.App.3d at pp. 751-752.) As the court explained, while section 17204 authorized a district attorney to prosecute some action under the UCL, it did not afford him "uncircumscribed authority" to "restrain the powers of other public officials and agencies." (*Id.* at 752.) Section 17204 did not permit "the district attorney to surrender the powers of the Attorney General and his fellow district attorneys to commence, when appropriate, actions in other

¹⁶ The Court of Appeal recently reaffirmed that even when a district attorney acts as a state officer in bringing UCL actions as "a representative of the People of the State of California," it still "is true" that "the district attorney's territorial jurisdiction is limited to the county in which he or she serves[.]" (*GameStop*, supra, 26 Cal.App.5th at p. 511 n.6).

counties under [the UCL]¹⁷." (*Id.* at 753, discussing *Sacramento Cty. v. Cent. Pac. R. Co.* (1882) 61 Cal. 250, 255.)¹⁸

Finally, *Hy-Lond* expressly noted the conflict of interest that would result from "put[ting] the initiating district attorney in the position of bargaining for the recovery of civil penalties that would flow into his county's coffers, at the expense of surrendering the rights and duties of the state to control the respondent's activities generally through the powers of the Attorney General (other district attorneys) and the Department." (*Hy-Lond*, *supra*, 93 Cal.App.3d at p. 753.) This concern is especially prescient where, as here, a district attorney relies on a cadre of private attorneys to press claims under a curious compensation structure, ¹⁹ adding yet

¹⁷ During the pendency of the appeal in *Hy-Lond*, the UCL was moved from its original location in the Civil Code to the Business & Professions Code. (*See Hy-Lond*, *supra*, 93 Cal.App.3d at p. 739.) The recodification does not affect the analysis.

¹⁸ Although *Hy-Lond* features prominently in the Opinion and dissent, the Opening Brief does not mention the case, let alone discuss it. Elsewhere the District Attorney has suggested that various parts of *Hy-Lond* are "dicta," and Defendants expect he will do so on reply. Had the district attorney in *Hy-Lond* been correct that his authority to bring claims on behalf of "the People" permitted him to bring and settle claims statewide, there is little doubt that *Hy-Lond* would have come out the other way. That makes the ruling more than dictum. (See *People v. Vang* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1038, 1047 fn.3 [defining dictum as a comment "unnecessary to the decision in the case"]; *People v. Yarbrough* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 889, 894 [same].)

¹⁹ Under the District Attorney's fee agreement with his outside counsel, counsel are not paid an hourly rate or a contingency. They are instead permitted to "apply for an award of attorneys' fees and costs as against one or more of the defendants in the Litigation pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 1021.5[.]" Ex. 20

another layer of potential conflicts. (Cf. Cty. of Santa Clara v. Superior Court (2006) 50 Cal.4th 35, 62 ("Santa Clara") [recognizing the "possibility that private attorneys unilaterally will engage in inappropriate prosecutorial strategy and tactics geared to maximize their monetary reward"].)

Moreover, if authorizing "any district attorney" to bring civil litigation on behalf of "the People" were to convey specific Legislative permission for statewide enforcement by 58 different locally elected prosecutors (and certain city attorneys too), that broad authority would by no means be limited to enforcing the UCL. The formulation that an action to recover a civil penalty "may be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction in the name of the people of the State of California by the Attorney General or by any district attorney"—without any specific "geographical limitation"—is replete in California's codes. 20 It would make no sense at

^{§ 7.1.1.1.} A government plaintiff suing private defendants, however, can never recover its fees under section 1021.5. (Code Civ. Proc., § 1021.5 ["With respect to actions involving public entities, this section applies to allowances against, but not in favor of, public entities," emphasis added]; see also City of Carmel-By-The-Sea v. Bd. of Supervisors (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 229, 254 [so holding].) Nor is there any other basis for the District Attorney to recover his outside counsel's fees from the defendants. (People ex rel. City of Santa Monica v. Gabriel (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 882, 889 [holding that the UCL itself does not permit public prosecutors to recover attorneys' fees].) The upshot of this curious arrangement is that if this case is taken to trial and judgment, the District Attorney's outside counsel will not get paid.

²⁰ See, e.g., Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 6980.10 [violations of locksmith licensure laws]; 6980.13 [same]; 6980.14 [same]; 7502.1 [violations of repo man licensure laws]; 7502.2 [same]; 7502.6 [same]; 7523 [violations of private investigator licensure laws]; 7523.5 [same];

all for courts to interpret that silence, in every single one of these provisions, to imbue a local district attorney (and sometimes city attorneys as well) with power to enforce these laws statewide. For instance, if the District Attorney's construction of the UCL is correct, it would follow that the Humboldt County District Attorney has civil enforcement authority over pool heater pilot lights in the San Fernando Valley, (see Pub. Res. Code, § 25967, subd. (a)), or video store customer records in Irvine (see Civ. Code, § 1799.3, subd (d)(1)). Such a result would make no sense.

^{7582.3 [}violations of security guard licensure laws]; 7582.4 [same]; 19214 [unlawful practices in the sale of furniture]; 22442.3 [unlawful practices by immigration consultants]; 22442.6 [same]; 22445 [same]; 22500 [ticket sellers without a physical address]; Civ. Code. §§ 52.1 [deprivations of civil rights]; 1716 [unlawful solicitations posing as bills]; 1745 [art forgeries]; 1785.10.1 [violations of credit reporting laws]; 1789.5 [unlawful electronic transactions]; 1799.3 [invasion of privacy in video rentals]; 1812.33 [commercial discrimination against women]; 2944.7 [unlawful mortgage collection practices]; Food & Agric. Code, § 59246 [violations of agricultural marketing laws]; Gov. Code, §§ 4216.6 [unlawful underground excavation]; 8314 [unlawful use of public resources for political purposes: 54964.5 [unlawful activities by non-profit organizations]: Health & Saf. Code, §§ 25422 [mishandling landfill gas]; 116840 [misuse of water treatment devices]; Lab. Code, §§ 1309.5 [sexual exploitation of minors]; 3820 [violations of workers' compensation laws]; Penal Code, § 653.59 [unlawful practices by immigration consultants]; Pub. Res. Code, § 25967 [violations of energy efficiency laws].

The Availability of Statewide Injunctive Relief Does Not Mean That a District Attorney Has the Authority to Seek Penalties or Restitution Statewide.

Defendants do not dispute that a public prosecutor, and indeed any private plaintiff with standing, can obtain an order enjoining a defendant from violating the UCL. (See §§ 17203, 17204.) So long as the plaintiff can show that a violation is likely to recur (Madrid v. Perot Sys. Corp. (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 440, 465), an injunction will generally take the form of an order prohibiting the defendant from engaging in whatever activity has been found to violate the UCL. (See, e.g., People ex rel. Bill Lockyer v. Fremont Life Ins. Co. (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 508, 530 (Fremont Life) [in a UCL action based on fraudulent marketing of insurance products, the court "enjoined numerous acts, ranging from the conduct of insurance agents in the residence of a prospective customer and disclosures in policies and brochures, to the size of the margin on the annuity policy"]; People v. Los Angeles Palm, Inc. (1981) 121 Cal.App.3d 25, 27 [in a UCL violation based on Labor Code violations "the court enjoined defendant from crediting tips against wages owed"].) Defendants also do not dispute that once such an injunction is issued, an action to seek redress for a violation of that injunction can be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction in the state where the violation occurs. (§ 17207, subd. (b).)

But the District Attorney's action in the trial court is not to enforce an injunction arising from a violation of the UCL. It is to try to prove that UCL has been violated and to obtain remedies for that alleged violation. (See generally Ex. 7.) None of the three cases

cited in the Opening Brief stands for the proposition that a local prosecutor may obtain an injunction under the UCL based on conduct that occurred outside his territorial jurisdiction. Instead, each stands only for the uncontroversial, but inapposite, proposition—set forth in section 17203—that "[a]ny person who engages, has engaged, or proposes to engage in unfair competition may be enjoined in any court of competent jurisdiction." (See § 17203; Churchill Vill., L.L.C. v. Gen. Elec. Co. (N.D.Cal. 2000) 169 F.Supp.2d 1119, 1126 [quoting former version of § 17203]; Comm. On Children's Television, Inc. v. Gen. Foods Corp. (1983) 35 Cal.3d 197, 209 [quoting 1972 case that quoted former version of § 17203]; People ex rel. Mosk v. Nat'l Research Co. of Cal. (1962) 201 Cal.App.2d 765, 771 [relying on former Civil Code, § 3369, subsequently recodified at § 17203].)

4.

Statutory Authorizations for "the Court" to Award Penalties and Restitution Are Not Express Authorizations for Every Local Prosecutor to Obtain Them.

The District Attorney erroneously claims that because the UCL's remedial provisions are framed in terms of the authority of "the court" to award restitution (§§ 17203, 17206), a court may award restitution for any purported violation, regardless of whether the particular plaintiff itself is permitted to seek or obtain it. (See Opening Br. at p. 27 ["Restitution is a matter expressly vested in the sound discretion of the trial court ..., regardless of the attorney that files the case."].) This argument is manifestly wrong.

A statutory authorization for "the court" to award a type of relief is not a license for that court to grant that relief to anyone who states an actionable claim. Statutory references to a "court may" or a "court must" in the context of remedial statutes are common in California. They simply reflect a common drafting practice employed to authorize courts to award remedies to a plaintiff who is permitted to obtain them and under facts that merit the award. These general authorizations do not preclude courts from determining that a plaintiff lacks standing to recover a particular court-awardable remedy at the pleading stage. (See, e.g., *Quiroz v. Seventh Ave. Center* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1256, 1284 [affirming an order granting a motion to strike plaintiffs' prayer for attorneys' fees, where the Elder Abuse Act, Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15657, pro-

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